2005

Utah v. Tiedemann : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78-2-2(3)(h) (2002) (providing appellate jurisdiction over interlocutory appeals in criminal cases). Appellant Edgar Tiedemann requested permission to appeal from an interlocutory order. On October 24, 2005, this Court granted the request in an order attached as Addendum A.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES AND STANDARDS OF REVIEW

A. Whether the trial court erred in failing to suppress statements obtained in violation of the state and federal constitutions and Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436 (1966).

Standard of Review: A bifurcated standard applies to the first issue. This Court will review a trial court's factual findings for clear error, State v. Troyer, 910 P.2d 1182, 1186 (Utah 1995), and its legal rulings for correctness. See State v. Rettenberger, 1999 UT 80, ¶10, 984 P.2d 1009.

B. Whether the state's destruction of potentially exculpatory evidence in this case constitutes a violation of Tiedemann's due process rights.

Standard of Review: The second issue is a question of law, which this Court will

review for correctness. See e.g. State v. Pena, 869 P.2d 932, 936 (Utah 1994), abrogated on other grounds as stated in Campbell v. State Farm, 2001 UT 89, ¶13, 65 P.3d 1134.

PRESERVATION OF ARGUMENT

The first issue on appeal was preserved in the record at 246-267; 337-358; and 638:5-9, 13-19. The second issue was preserved at 388-404; and 638:19-28, 32-34.

RULES, STATUTES AND CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS

The following provisions are relevant and set forth at Addendum B: U.S. Const. amends. V, VI, and XIV, § 1; Utah Const. art. I, § 7.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case, Course of the Proceedings, Disposition in the Court Below

In November 2002, the state charged Tiedemann with three counts of murder under Utah Code Ann. § 76-5-203 (Supp. 1991), stemming from events that occurred in November 1991. (R. 1-5). The defense requested discovery (see R. 24-27), and on October 6, 2003, the trial court bound Tiedemann over for trial on the charges. (R. 99).

On December 6, 2004, Tiedemann filed a motion to suppress statements made during a police interrogation in November 1991. (R. 246-267; see also 337-358). The trial court took the matter under advisement and set the case for an 8-day trial to begin in January 2006. (R. 513-14; 581-83). On December 20, 2004, Tiedemann filed a motion to dismiss based on the state's destruction of exculpatory evidence in the case in 1993. (R. 388-404). The trial court took that matter under advisement as well. (R. 513-14).

On July 22, 2005, the trial court issued a memorandum decision and order denying the defendant's request to suppress the interrogation statements (R. 585-595), and on

September 27, 2005, the trial court issued a second decision denying the defendant's request to dismiss the case due to the destruction of exculpatory evidence. (R. 599-607). A copy of the trial court's July 22 order is attached as Addendum C, and a copy of the September 27 order is attached as Addendum D.

Tiedemann filed a timely petition and amended petition from the issuance of each interlocutory order (see e.g. R. 598, 608-610; Addendum A, hereto). On October 24, 2005, this Court granted the petitions for this appeal. (See Addendum A). The trial is stayed pending resolution of the issues here. Tiedemann is incarcerated.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The state charged Tiedemann with three counts of murder for the deaths of Susan Sessions, Charles Timberman, and Scott Bunnell, Jr. (R. 1-5). It alleged that on November 1, or November 2, 1991, Tiedemann shot the victims at his trailer home at 3874 Hummingbird, West Valley City. (Id.) Susan Sessions and Charles Timerberman died at the scene; Scott Bunnell died in February 2001. (Id.; R. 438).

On November 2, 1991, police took Tiedemann into custody and recovered evidence from the trailer home, including blood and tissue samples, fingerprints, drugs, paraphernalia, and items of clothing and bedding. (See R. 389; 477-78). They also recovered weapons, and interrogated Tiedemann for a confession. (See R. 3-4).

The state originally charged Tiedemann on November 5, 1991, with two counts of aggravated murder, one count of attempted aggravated murder, one count of aggravated kidnapping, and one count of aggravated sexual assault (Case No. 911013168). (R. 526-29; 477; 519). The original trial court ordered competency evaluations. (R. 519).

After evaluations, the court found Tiedemann to be incompetent. (R. 519-20; 532). His mental illnesses included mild dementia, which was partially "substance-induced, and partially due to cerebrovascular trauma in 1988; organic mood disorder [] (depression with mood congruent psychotic features); and inhalant dependence." (R. 532).

Tiedemann also suffered from a neurological disorder due to a brain injury he suffered in 1988; he had "difficulty understanding and expressing ideas conveyed through verbal language;" and he suffered from a Mixed "Personality Disorder with Paranoid, Schizoid and Antisocial Features." (R. 532). "The combination of organic brain damage, intractable craving for Toluene, and personality disorder [made] it highly unlikely that Mr. Tiedemann [would] ever be able to function in a rational legal manner outside a supervised residential living facility." (R. 532-33). Due to the mental illnesses, "the defendant has lost the capacity to comprehend his position, to understand the nature and object of the proceedings against him, to conduct his defense in a rational manner, and to cooperate with his counsel to the end that any available defense may be interposed." (R. 534). Tiedemann also exhibited difficulty concentrating on tasks and understanding verbal instructions, and he had difficulty with word retrieval and concentration. (R. 540).

Tiedemann's long-term clinical prognosis in 1992 was abysmal. (R. 536). His condition would "remain incompetent in the foreseeable future in the absence of more vigorous psychopharmacologic treatment of his depression and psychosis." (R. 532).

Due to the psychological evaluations in 1992, the state determined to dismiss the original charges against Tiedemann. It also represented that it would not file charges in the future. (R. 477-78; see 558). "As a result, the West Valley City Police Department

ultimately destroyed the evidence that was collected at the crime scene." (R. 478 (state's pleadings)). A list of destroyed evidence is attached as Addendum E.

In October 2002, an attorney in Utah County advised the Salt Lake District Attorney's office that Tiedemann would be released from the state hospital. (R. 562). Apparently the hospital was unable to secure federal aid for Tiedemann's treatment and further placement due to his foreign citizenship. (See R. 562; 636:19).

In November 2002, the state filed the underlying charges here against Tiedemann. (R. 1-5; 478; see also 636:19). The state has not disputed in filings with the trial court that Tiedemann suffered diminished mental capacity at the time of the police interrogation in November 1991. (See e.g. R. 470). Likewise, the state has not disputed the "defendant's claim of intoxication" at the time of the interview in November 1991. (R. 471). It also has not disputed the destruction of potentially exculpatory evidence. (R. 477-78).

Additional facts relating to the issues on appeal are set forth below. Tiedemann is incarcerated. A trial is stayed pending resolution of the issues in this interlocutory appeal.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Officers obtained confessions from Tiedemann during an interrogation. The confessions were unlawful in two respects. First, Tiedemann was intoxicated and mentally impaired; he disclosed to officers that he did not know if he was capable of understanding and answering questions. Also, Tiedemann was deemed to be mentally incompetent shortly after the interrogation. Officers disregarded the circumstances, and engaged in tactics designed to keep Tiedemann talking in order to obtain a confession. The waiver and confessions here were not voluntary and must be suppressed. Second,

Tiedemann invoked the right to remain silent during questioning. Officers failed to honor his request. That violates Miranda. The confessions must be suppressed on that basis.

Next, if the government destroys potentially exculpatory evidence in a criminal prosecution, a federal due process analysis requires the defendant, who is seeking relief, to prove that the government acted in bad faith. In this case, state agents knowingly and willfully destroyed all physical evidence related to the shootings; their conduct supports bad faith. In addition, the evidence was potentially exculpatory. The destruction of evidence constitutes a violation of Tiedemann's due process rights under a federal analysis. Tiedemann is entitled to relief: the charges must be dismissed.

In the alternative, this Court may look to article I, section 7 of the state constitution and adopt a different analysis when police destroy evidence related to a criminal prosecution. Specifically, this Court may determine that the defendant is not required to prove bad faith. Instead, this Court may adopt an analysis that considers several factors for a remedy, including the state's culpability in destroying the evidence, the significance of the evidence, and the prejudice to defendant. Other jurisdictions have adopted such an assessment. On that basis, this Court may remand for further proceedings.

ARGUMENT

POINT I. OFFICERS OBTAINED INCRIMINATING STATEMENTS IN VIOLATION OF STATE AND FEDERAL CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS AND IN VIOLATION OF *MIRANDA*.

A. TIEDEMANN DID NOT WAIVE HIS *MIRANDA* RIGHTS; AND HE SPECIFICALLY INVOKED HIS RIGHT TO REMAIN SILENT.

The federal constitution provides that no person "shall be compelled in any cri-

minal case to be a witness against himself." U.S. Const. amend. V; see also Utah Const. art. I, § 12. Under the law, a person in custody must be advised, prior to questioning that "he has the right to remain silent, that anything he says can be used against him in a court of law, that he has the right to the presence of an attorney, and that if he cannot afford an attorney one will be appointed for him prior to any questioning if he so desires." Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436, 479 (1966); id. at 444. Also, before a statement may be taken, an officer must obtain a clear and unequivocal waiver of these rights from the accused. See State v. Leyva, 951 P.2d 738, 743 (Utah 1997).

Unless an accused is informed of his rights and he "knowingly and intelligently waive[s] these rights and agree[s] to answer questions or make a statement," Miranda, 384 U.S. at 479, the government may not present the statement in evidence at trial. Id.

An accused's ability to knowingly and intelligently waive his rights per Miranda is assessed under the totality of the circumstances. See State v. Norfolk, 381 N.W.2d 120, 127 (Neb. 1986). An intelligent, voluntary waiver occurs when the defendant possesses the capacity to understand the warnings and to act in response to them. See id. at 125.

Also, voluntariness is met if the officer obtains a waiver without coercion. Coercion invalidates the voluntariness of the waiver and/or the confession. Coercion in the confession may be established with evidence of the details of the interrogation and/or the suspect's condition or circumstances. See e.g. Rettenberger, 1999 UT 80 at ¶¶14-15. If an officer knows that a defendant is mentally disabled, and nevertheless exploits his condition for a waiver or confession, those facts may support coercion. See id. at ¶45.

This Court has ruled that the government has "a heavy burden" to establish that a

defendant waived his Miranda rights before questioning. See Leyva, 951 P.2d at 743. Also, the government must establish the voluntariness of a confession. Rettenberger, 1999 UT 80 at ¶45.

Once the government has established an initial waiver, the suspect then bears the burden to establish that a subsequent invocation of rights was clear and unequivocal. See Leyva, 951 P.2d at 743; State v. Galli, 967 P.2d 930, 935 n.4 (Utah 1998); Davis v. U.S., 512 U.S. 452, 459 (1994). "[T]he suspect 'must articulate his desire to have counsel present sufficiently clearly that a reasonable police officer in the circumstances would understand the statement to be a request for an attorney.'" Leyva, 951 P.2d at 743 (citing Davis, 512 U.S. 459).

If a suspect later invokes his rights, officers are required to "scrupulously honor[]" the request. Michigan v. Mosely, 423 U.S. 96, 104 (1975).

If the individual indicates in any manner, at any time prior to or during questioning, that he wishes to remain silent, the interrogation must cease. At this point he has shown that he intends to exercise his Fifth Amendment privilege; any statement taken after the person invokes this privilege cannot be other than the product of compulsion, subtle or otherwise.

Miranda, 384 U.S. at 473-74 (note omitted).

In this case, the officers violated Tiedemann's right not to incriminate himself in at least two respects. First, Tiedemann was incapable of making a knowing and voluntary waiver of his rights per Miranda. When the interrogation began, Tiedemann disclosed that he was intoxicated and he did not know if he was capable of answering questions. Officers were aware of the circumstances and disregarded them in pursuit of obtaining a confession. That renders the interrogation illegal. (See infra, Point I.B.(1), herein).

Second, Tiedemann invoked the right to remain silent during questioning and the officers failed to stop the interrogation. Those circumstances render the confessions unlawful. (See infra, Point I.B.(2), herein). Each matter is addressed in turn below.

B. THE TOTAL CIRCUMSTANCES HERE SUPPORT AN ILLEGAL INTERROGATION.

In this case, officers interrogated Tiedemann at the police station on the day of the shootings. The interrogation was videotaped and transcribed in part. The transcript is attached as Addendum F; the video is included in the record. (R. 611).

The interrogation started at 1:58 p.m. with Detective Ron Edwards and Sergeant Ed Spann. Edwards explained that Tiedemann signed a paper, which gave officers permission to search his home (see R. 611, video at 1:58 and transcript at 3 (stating Tiedemann signed a waiver for his home)). Also, Edwards explained that Tiedemann waived his rights per Miranda and was not intoxicated. (See R. 611, video at 1:58 to 2:01). Tiedemann corrected Edwards, stating he was intoxicated on Toluene. (Id.) Edwards asked how long Tiedemann had been on Toluene, and he responded, "since 1962." (Id.) His substance abuse was long-term.

Edwards asked whether Tiedemann was incapable of answering questions. He responded, "Sometimes. I don't know." (Id.) This part of the interrogation is not included in the transcript. (Compare R. 611, video; with transcript); Addendum F, hereto.

After Tiedemann notified the officers of his impaired state, and after they observed his condition, the video stopped and started again 12 minutes later at 2:13 (see R. 611, video). The interrogation began a second time at 2:15. (Id.)

With the second interrogation, Edwards recited Miranda warnings. (See R. 611, video and transcript at page 1). He made no mention of the consent form that Tiedemann apparently signed for his home. (Id.) Also, he and Spann asked if Tiedemann understood his rights and if he "still wish[ed] to speak to [them] at this time." (See R. 611, video and transcript at 1). Tiedemann answered, "Ya," to both questions. (See R. 611, video and transcript at 1). His condition on the video tape appeared subnormal: he was sagging with his head down, and generally out of it. (R. 611, video).

Edwards then asked Tiedemann, "Are you intoxicated" (id.), even though he could observe Tiedemann's condition and had already established that fact in the first part of the interrogation. (See R. 611, video from 1:58 to 2:01). Tiedemann again responded in the affirmative. He stated he was on Toluene. (See R. 611, video and transcript at 1). This time Edwards did not stop the interrogation. Instead, he brushed the information aside and moved on to discuss the shootings at Tiedemann's address, as follows:

RE [Ron Edwards]: Are you intoxicated?

ET [Edgar Tiedemann]: On toluene.

RE: What's toluene?

ET: Toluene. It's, it's a paint thinner.

RE: It's a paint thinner?

ET: Ya.

RE: Okay, do you know why we're going to talk to you?

ET: Ya.

RE: What are we going to talk to you about?

ET: The murders out there.

RE: What murders?

ET: The murders out there at West Valley.

RE: Who are they?

ET: Suzie, Chuck and Scotty.

RE: *Whose [sic] Suzie?*

ET: *She's the woman I love.*

(R. 611, video). At this point, Tiedemann began to cry.

RE: That you love?

ET: Ya.

RE: What happened to her?

[Silence].

(See R. 611, video). Tiedemann then informed officers, "I don't want to talk about it."

(See R. 611, video and transcript at 2). The officers did not discontinue the interrogation.

They continued questioning:

ET: *I don't want to talk about it.*

RE: You don't want to talk about it?

ET: No.

ES: Edgar?

ET: What.

ES [Ed Spann]: What don't you want to talk about?

ET: I love that woman so much.

ES: What is it that you don't want to talk about?

[Silence].

ES: You said murders in West Valley, where in West Valley?

ET: . . . inaudible . . . Hummingbird Street.

ES: I'm sorry, where?

ET: 1308 [sic] Hummingbird Street.

ES: 1308 Hummingbird, who lives there?

ET: Me.

RE: Who lives with you?

ET: Suzie and Scotty and they just moved in today or last night, I don't know.

RE: Okay, what don't you want to talk about?

[Silence]

RE: Edgar?

[Silence]

RE: What don't you want to talk about, Ed?

(See R. 611, video). Tiedemann did not respond. He cried as Spann stated the following:

ES: *Edgar, we're not going to force you [to] talk about anything. We're asking you questions. As Detective Edwards stated, you can answer this question, not answer that question, answer this question, not answer that question. You don't have to answer any of our questions at all. You can stop at anytime.*

(R. 611, video and transcript at 2 (emphasis added)). Tiedemann said, "Okay." (R. 611, video). The officers continued:

ES: He made that clear to you, right?

ET: Ya.

ES: Okay. You stated you wanted to talk to us, what part do you and what part don't you want to talk to us about?

[Silence]

RE: Edgar do you remember me reading your rights earlier and you signing a waiver for us to search your home?

ET: Ya.

RE: Okay, we were called to your home on a gunshot. We got in there and seen some people. Who shot them?

(See R. 611, video). Tiedemann confessed to the shootings. As officers continued to interrogate him, he began to repeatedly state, "I don't know." (See R. 611, video and transcript at 4). Edwards then questioned Tiedemann further about his intoxication.

RE: How long have you been sniffing that solvent?

ET: Since 1962.

RE: Tonight how long? Or today?

ET: All day.

RE: Do you know what today's date is?

ET: You told me but I don't remember.

RE: Do you know what day of the week it is?

ET: No.

RE: What was yesterday?

ET: I don't have any idea.

(See R. 611, video and transcript at 4).

Officers then asked Tiedemann about employment; they continued to question him about the shootings and obtained additional confessions from him; and they asked questions about Tiedemann's history. (R. 611, video and transcript at 4-33). As they asked again about Scott Bunnell, Susan Sessions, Charles Timberman, and events leading up to and shortly after the shootings, they increased the pace of the interrogation. (See R.

611, video and transcript at 5).

Officers also asked if Tiedemann had "mental problems." He told them he had "all kinds." He told them he thinks he is "Adolf Hitler." (See R. 611, video and transcript at 9). Edwards asked if Tiedemann heard voices, and he asked, "Who was telling you to go shoot them?" Tiedemann answered, "The devil." (See R. 611, video and transcript at 13-14). Tiedemann appeared intoxicated, exhausted, disoriented or confused, and out of it with head lowered, sometimes crying.

Near the conclusion of the interrogation, officers asked Tiedemann to affirm that he made incriminating statements of his own free will. The recording reflects the following: Tiedemann stated that Susan Sessions and her sister Deborah used heroin the night of the shooting. Spann asked where:

ES: They were doing heroin before they got to your house?

ET: Yeah.

RE: Who with?

ET: I don't know.

RE: With him?

ET: I don't know.

RE: Is Debbie a prostitute, too?

ET: I think so.

ES: So you asked Suzie to sleep with you and she called you disgusting?

ET: Ya, I guess so.

ES: Well no, it is true or not?

ET: I thinks it is.

ES: Okay, I'm just telling you what you told me.

ET: Ya.

RE: Edgar?

ET: Huh?

RE: Why did you shoot them?

ET: I don't know.

RE: Why did you shoot Scotty and Chuck then?

ET: I don't know. I just, I don't know.

RE: Have we made any threats to you during this interview?

ET: No.

RE: Have we promised you anything?

ET: No.

RE: Are you making this statement on your own free will?

ET: Ya.

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