2005

Utah v. Tiedemann : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

The trial court therefore did not clearly err in finding that defendant did not unequivocally invoke his right to silence.

POINT II

**THE DESTRUCTION OF EVIDENCE DID NOT VIOLATE
DEFENDANT'S FEDERAL DUE PROCESS RIGHTS WHERE
POLICE DID NOT ACT IN BAD FAITH; THIS COURT SHOULD NOT
REACH DEFENDANT'S UNPRESERVED STATE CONSTITUTIONAL
CLAIM, BUT IF IT DOES, THIS COURT SHOULD ADOPT THE
FEDERAL STANDARD**

Defendant argues that the trial court should have dismissed this case because the destruction of physical evidence has impaired his right to a fair trial, thereby violating his due

process rights under both the federal and state constitutions. Br. Aplt. 35-50. Defendant's federal due process claim fails because he has not shown that the police acted in bad faith in destroying the evidence. This Court should not reach his state due process claim because he did not preserve it below. Should this Court nevertheless reach that issue, it should decline to adopt a different standard under the state constitution.

A. To prevail on a federal due process claim, defendant must show that the evidence was constitutionally material or that it was lost due to bad faith by State actors.

The State's duty to preserve evidence falls into "what might loosely be called the area of constitutionally guaranteed access to evidence." *California v. Trombetta*, 467 U.S. 479, 485 (1984) (internal quotation marks and citation omitted). The duty to preserve evidence is closely related to the duty to disclose evidence that is exculpatory. The latter is violated whenever "the State suppresses or fails to disclose *material exculpatory evidence*," irrespective of "the good or bad faith of the prosecution" *Illinois v. Fisher*, 540 U.S. 544, 547 (2004) (per curiam) (citing *Brady v. Maryland*, 373 U.S. 83 (1963) & *United States v. Agurs*, 427 U.S. 97 (1976)). The "mere possibility that an item of undisclosed information might have helped the defense, or might have affected the outcome of the trial, does not establish 'materiality' in the constitutional sense." *Agurs*, 427 U.S. at 109-10. Rather, omitted evidence is constitutionally material only if it "creates a reasonable doubt that did not otherwise exist." *Id.* at 112.

The State's duty to preserve evidence is likewise limited to that which is constitutionally material: "Whatever duty the Constitution imposes on the States to preserve

evidence, that duty must be limited to evidence that might be expected to play a significant role in the suspect's defense." *Trombetta*, 467 U.S. at 488-89. "To meet this standard of constitutional materiality, . . . evidence must both possess an exculpatory value that was apparent before the evidence was destroyed, and be of such a nature that the defendant would be unable to obtain comparable evidence by other reasonably available means." *Id.* at 489.

The Due Process Clause, however, imposes a different test when dealing "with the failure of the State to preserve evidentiary material of which no more can be said than that it could have been subjected to tests, the results of which might have exonerated the defendant.'" *Fisher*, 540 U.S. at 547 (quoting *Arizona v. Youngblood*, 488 U.S. 51, 57 (1988)). "[T]he failure to preserve this 'potentially useful evidence' does not violate due process 'unless a criminal defendant can show bad faith on the part of the police.'" *Id.* at 547-48 (quoting *Youngblood*, 488 U.S. at 58). Bad faith requires that a defendant show more than mere negligence. *See Youngblood*, 488 U.S. at 58. The defendant must show that "the police . . . by their conduct indicate that the evidence could form a basis for exonerating the defendant." *Id.* In other words, the bad faith conduct must be such that it supports an inference that police destroyed the evidence because they knew of its exculpatory value. *See State v. Holden*, 964 P.2d 318, 324 (Utah App. 1998).

A defendant, then, can establish a due process violation for destruction of evidence in two ways: (1) he can show that the destroyed evidence "possess[ed] an exculpatory value that was apparent before the evidence was destroyed" and no other comparable evidence is available, *Trombetta*, 467 U.S. at 489; or (2) if the evidence is only potentially useful, he can

show that the police acted in bad faith in destroying the evidence, such that “their conduct indicate[d] that the evidence could form a basis for exonerating the defendant,” *Youngblood*, 488 U.S. at 58. The burden is on the defendant to establish the due process violation. *See id.* at 57-58. *See also Holden*, 964 P.2d at 324.

B. Defendant has not shown that the destroyed evidence was either constitutionally material or destroyed in bad faith.

The evidence destroyed here included the two revolvers used in the murders, a Code R kit, a victim’s wallet, heroin, an audio tape, a blood specimen, a make-up kit, drug paraphernalia, various articles of the victims’ clothing, bedding, a bone fragment found on one victim’s bed, a bottle with green liquid, a gallon can of Toluene, .38 and .22 caliber bullets, bullet fragments, shell casings, hair and saliva samples, and gunshot residue from defendant and Debrah. *See Add. B.*

Defendant does not claim, nor did he below, that this evidence possessed an exculpatory value apparent before it was destroyed. *Trombetta*, 467 U.S. at 489. *See* R391-92. He instead argues that the evidence was “potentially useful” to him and that the police acted with bad faith in destroying it. Br. Aplt. 35-42. However, he has shown neither.

1. The destroyed evidence was not “potentially useful.”

Defendant speculates that the destroyed evidence was “potentially useful” to him in three ways: (1) “if the ballistics evidence, blood and tissue samples, gunshot residue and fingerprint evidence were such that it would support that [Debrah] was involved in the shootings, that evidence would serve to impeach [Debrah’s] credibility and her claims

regarding [defendant's] actions; (2) the Code R kit might have shown that Debrah did not suffer "trauma, tenderness, redness, or bruising to the genitalia for forced penetration," thereby impeaching her credibility; (3) evidence "tying drugs and paraphernalia" to Debrah and others in the trailer could have created doubt about Debrah's ability to accurately observe events or might have shown that victims "made threats to [defendant] in their drug-induced state," thereby provoking the attack Br. Aplt. 40-41.

Defendant's speculation notwithstanding, he has not demonstrated that the destroyed evidence was "potentially useful." First, defendant's argument ignores all the evidence that has been turned over to him: autopsy photos and reports; toxicology reports; a rape report by St. Mark's Hospital; photos of weapons and ammunition; firearm analysis reports; transcripts of interviews with Debrah and Scotty; other witness statements; a videotaped interview of Debrah; and a videotape and photos of the crime scene. *See* R60-61. Second, it ignores Debrah's eyewitness testimony and defendant's own confession. Taken together, this dispels any claim that the destroyed evidence was potentially useful or that there is no comparable available evidence.

For example, defendant may use Debrah's interviews, the videotape and photos of the crime scene, and the firearm analysis reports, to impeach any inconsistencies or inaccuracies that might arise in her testimony. Next, while the Code R kit may be gone, a written rape report by the hospital remains. Defendant has not alleged, much less shown, that this report is inadequate to show a lack genital injuries. More important, evidence of the sexual assault is irrelevant given that defendant is no longer charged with sexual assault. With respect to

tying the drugs and paraphernalia to the victims, defendant disregards the toxicology reports of Susie and Chuck, which showed no illegal drugs in their blood at the time of death.¹⁴ This supports Debrah's claim that they did not use drugs that night. R630:40-41.

But even setting aside the remaining evidence, defendant cannot show that any of the destroyed evidence was even potentially useful if this Court concludes that his confession was voluntary. Rather, defendant's valid confession, particularly in view of Debrah's consistent preliminary hearing testimony, stands as a concession that the destroyed evidence was all inculpatory and, therefore, potentially useful only to the State.

2. The police did not destroy the evidence in bad faith.

Even assuming, *arguendo*, that the evidence was potentially useful, defendant has not carried his burden of proving that police destroyed it in bad faith. As the trial court observed, defendant did not even attempt to carry this burden below. R602. Instead, he tried to cast his burden on the State by asserting that the State's conduct was "[a]t the very least, . . . gross negligence" (R392-93), and that "bad faith should be presumed in this case unless and until the government is able to offer an explanation for the destruction of this evidence." R393-94, 602. The trial court properly rejected this misstatement of the law and found that defendant had "failed to meet [his] burden." R602-03.

For the first time on appeal, defendant argues that the destruction of evidence was in bad faith because it was done "wilfully." Br. Aplt. 39. Because defendant did not present

¹⁴ See Toxicology Reports attached to Autopsy Reports in Envelope marked Exhibits.

this argument below, this Court should disregard it. *See State v. Gulbransen*, 2005 UT 7, ¶¶ 47-48, 106 P.3d 734 (declining to consider defendant’s claim of bad faith raised for the first time on appeal).

The argument is meritless in any event. That evidence is intentionally destroyed pursuant to routine procedures, does not establish bad faith within the meaning of *Youngblood*. *See Fisher*, 540 U.S. at 546-47 (no bad faith where police, “acting in accord with established procedures,” destroyed evidence during defendant’s ten-year flight from justice). As explained above, in demonstrating bad faith, defendant has the burden of proving that “the police themselves by their conduct indicate that the evidence could form a basis for exonerating the defendant.” *Youngblood*, 488 U.S. at 58.

Defendant cannot meet his burden. The evidence was destroyed approximately two years after the charges had been dismissed due to defendant’s incompetence to stand trial, and approximately a year after the court was informed that defendant likely would never be competent to stand trial. Add. B;R636:15-17. Indeed, the record suggests that everyone—the prosecution, the defense, and the trial court—reasonably believed that defendant would never stand trial, but that the community would be adequately protected based on his civil commitment. Thus, it was both natural and reasonable for the police to assume that the evidence would never be needed. This reasonable assumption was only confirmed when five years later, in 1998, the district attorney’s office wrote a letter to the State Hospital declaring that it still did not intend to pursue the original charges. R558.

In short, the record makes clear that the police destroyed the evidence according to

established procedures and only after the case had been dismissed and it appeared that charges would never be refiled. Moreover, police had no reason to think that any of the destroyed evidence would be exculpatory in light of defendant's confession and Debrah's statement. Accordingly, defendant has not shown police conduct indicating that "the evidence could form a basis for exonerating the defendant." *Youngblood*, 488 U.S. at 88.

C. Defendant's state constitutional claim is unpreserved.

Defendant argues that even if he has not shown bad faith, this Court should reverse the trial court's ruling based on a state constitutional analysis under article I, § 7, of the Utah Constitution. Br. Aplt. 42-50. Defendant urges this Court to reject *Youngblood's* due process analysis and to adopt "a balancing approach" used by a minority of states in interpreting their state constitutions. Br. Aplt. 46-50.

This Court should decline defendant's invitation because he did not make this argument below. *See State v. Bobo*, 803 P.2d 1268, 1273 (Utah App. 1990) (declining to conduct separate state constitutional analysis where trial court not afforded meaningful opportunity to address issue). While defendant asked the trial court to engage in a state constitutional analysis, the trial court declined because defendant had "offered no analysis concerning the unique context in which Utah's Constitution developed, nor shown why this State's Constitution should be interpreted differently than the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments of the United States Constitution." R604. The trial court also noted that although defendant had cited "to numerous cases in other state jurisdictions that have 'rejected *Younblood*,'" he had "not articulated the rulings of other states correctly," nor had

he “suggested a viable alternative standard.” R605. Indeed, at oral argument on the motion to dismiss, defendant cast the burden on the trial court to determine what standard should apply under the state constitution:

And I didn’t really address this, you know because it’s—it’s not really a secondary issue, but, I mean, the obvious question is, Well, what standard do we follow? And [the] answer is, “Well, these different states have articulated a bunch of different standards. If the Court sees fit, you know, that is something we can address secondarily as to which standard. But it would be something along the lines of what is listed in the motion.

R638:27-28. Defendant’s written motion, however, proposed no specific test. *See* R394-02.

Because defendant did not preserve the state constitutional analysis that he now urges on appeal, this Court should not address it. *See Brigham City v. Stuart*, 2005 UT 13, ¶ 14, 122 P.3d 506 (“we are resolute in our refusal to take up constitutional issues which have not been properly preserved, framed and briefed”), *cert. granted* 126 S.Ct. 979 (Jan. 6, 2006).¹⁵

D. Even if defendant had preserved his state constitutional claim, defendant has not shown that this Court should adopt a separate state analysis.

Even if defendant had adequately preserved his state constitutional claim, he has not shown that this Court should adopt a separate state constitutional analysis in this case or that

¹⁵This Court should also decline to address defendant’s state constitutional claim because he has not adequately developed it using “historical and textual evidence, sister state law, and policy arguments in the form of economic and sociological materials to assist [the Court] in arriving at a proper interpretation of the provision in question.” *Society of Separationists, Inc. v. Whitehead*, 870 P.2d 916, 921 n.6 (Utah 1993). While defendant does cite to sister state law, he fails to analyze his claim within “the unique context in which Utah’s constitution developed.” *Bobo*, 803 P.3d at 1272 n.5. Indeed, he does not even mention that the language of the federal and state due process clauses are identical or explain why, given that circumstance, the clauses should be interpreted differently.

it should reject *Youngblood*'s well-reasoned analysis. In urging this Court to adopt a different state constitutional analysis, defendant cites to several cases in which other jurisdictions have rejected *Youngblood* under their state constitutions. Defendant views those decisions as fairer and less draconian than *Youngblood*'s bad faith test. Br. Aplt. 45-50. Defendant's argument, however, ignores the sound policy considerations underlying *Youngblood* and the many jurisdictions that have embraced the bad faith requirement under their state constitutions.

Ten states follow *Youngblood*. It is fitting that the Arizona Supreme Court was one of the first to expressly adopt *Youngblood*'s bad faith requirement under its own constitution. It did so on remand from the United States Supreme Court. *See State v. Youngblood*, 844 P.2d 1152, 1156-58 (Ariz. 1993). In so doing, the court explained why the rule announced in *Youngblood* was fundamentally fair.

The court first explained why *Brady* violations and unpreserved evidence are treated differently. Under *Brady*, “the suppression by the prosecution of [material] evidence favorable to an accused upon request violates [federal] due process . . . irrespective of the good faith or bad faith of the prosecution.” *Youngblood*, 844 P.2d at 1156 (alterations in original). This “makes sense” because constitutionally material “[e]xculpatory evidence matters whether the police exercise good faith or bad faith in failing to produce it.” *Id.* In such cases, the “defendant is prejudiced by definition because the unproduced evidence is plainly exculpatory.” *Id.* The remedy for a *Brady* violation, however, is not a dismissal, but a new trial at which the evidence is available. *Id.*

“In stark contrast to *Brady*,” unpreserved evidence “is neither plainly exculpatory nor inculpatory.” *Id.* “Under these circumstances, one can only say that the evidence *might* have been exculpatory, or the evidence *might* have been inculpatory.” *Id.* Thus, unlike *Brady* material “there is no showing of prejudice in fact.”¹⁶ *Id.*

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